
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
-x

-V- NOTICE OF MOTION
TO DISMISS COUNTS
09-CR-51

CARLO NAPPI,

Defendant.
-x

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that upon the annexed affirmation of Steve
Zissou, defendant moves this Court for the following relief:

I. Dismissal of Counts one through six;

II. Such other relief which this Court may deem to be appropriate.

DATED: Bayside, New York
January 14, 2011

TO: MAGISTRATE JUDGE HUGH B. SCOTT
United States District Court
68 Court Street
Buffalo, NY 14202

Charles B. Wydysh, Esq., AUSA
United States Attorney's Office
Federal Centre
138 Delaware Avenue
Buffalo, NY 14202
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

x
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

-v- AFFIRMATION
09-CR-51

CARLO NAPPI,

Defendant.
x

STEVE ZIS S OU, an attorney duly admitted to practice law in the State of New

York, hereby affirms under the penalty of perjury that the following statements are

true and correct:

1. That I am the attorney of record for CARLO NAPPI, the defendant herein.

2. I make this Affirmation in support of Mr. Nappi's motion to dismiss Counts

one through six on the grounds that the state tax statute which purportedly

required the excise tax to be paid on such transactions did not provide the

defendant with sufficient notice that the conduct in question was prohibited by

law.

3. This Affirmation and Memorandum of Law is based upon counsel's

investigation, review of documents, records, and transcripts (the vast majority

of which were produced by the government as part of discovery), upon

correspondence and conversations with the Assistant United States Attorney
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assigned to prosecute this case, attorneys, and others.

4. That Mr. Nappi is charged in a multi-count Indictment involving allegations

that he engaged in a conspiracy to distribute contraband cigarettes in violation

of State and Federal Law.

5. Specifically, Nappi is charged in the within indictment with conspiracy to

possess and transport contraband cigarettes in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2341

and 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a), five counts of trafficking in contraband cigarettes in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 2, five counts of wire fraud in violation

of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 2, and two counts of engaging in monetary

transactions in property derived from specified unlawful activity in violation

of 18 U.S.C. § 1957 and 2.

WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that, for the reasons set

forth in the accompanying memorandum of law, the instant motion be granted in all

respects together with such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and

proper.

Dated: Bay side, New York
January 14,2011 s/STEVE ZISSOU, ESQ.

Attorney for Defendant
Steve Zissou and Associates
42-40 Bell Boulevard, Suite 302
Bayside, NY 11361
(718)279-4500
stevezissou@verizon.net
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
-x

-v-

CARLO NAPPL

AFFIRMATION OF
SERVICE
09-CR-51

Defendant.
-x

I hereby certify that on January 14, 2011,1 electronically filed the foregoing

with the Clerk of the District Court using its CM/ECF system, which would then

electronically notify the following CM/ECF participants on this case:

1. MAGISTRATE JUDGE HUGH B. SCOTT
United States District Court
68 Court Street
Buffalo, NY 14202

2. United States Attorney's Office
Attn: Charles B. Wydysh, Esq., AUSA
Federal Centre
138 Delaware Avenue
Buffalo, NY 14202

s/STEVEZISSOU.ESO.
Attorney for Defendant
Steve Zissou and Associates
42-40 Bell Boulevard, Suite 302
Bay side, NY 11361
(718)279-4500
stevezissou@verizon.net
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
—————————• ———————————" — ™ " — — — .—-—— . _ _ , > - . _ , ' " . A .

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Ind.No. 09-cr-51
-against-

CARLO J. NAPPI, a/k/a CARL NAPPI,

Defendant.
-x

MEMORANDUM OF LAW
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS

Introduction

Carlo J. Nappi (hereinafter "defendant") is charged in the within

indictment with conspiracy to possess and transport contraband cigarettes in violation

of 18 U.S.C. § 2341 and 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a), five counts of trafficking in contraband

cigarettes in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 2, five counts of wire fraud in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 2, and two counts of engaging in monetary

transactions in property derived from specified unlawful activity in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1957 and 2. In support of those charges, the government has alleged that

between or about October, 2002 and April, 2004, the defendant conspired with others

to sell and distribute unstamped cigarettes, thereby evading the payment of the
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applicable state excise taxes imposed for such transactions. This memorandum of law

is respectfully submitted in support of the defendant's instant motion to dismiss

Counts One, Two, Three, Four, Five, and Six of the within indictment on the grounds

that the state tax statute which purportedly required the excise tax to be paid on such

transactions failed to provide the defendant with sufficient notice that the conduct in

question was prohibited by law.

The Statutory Framework, Amendments
and Decisions Interpreting the Statutes

18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) provides that:

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to
ship, transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or
purchase contraband cigarettes or contraband
smokeless tobacco.

The definition of contraband cigarettes is contained in 18 U.S.C. § 2341.

which provides as follows:

a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, which
bear no evidence of the payment of the applicable
State or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality
where such cigarettes are found, if the State or
local government requires a stamp, impression, or
other indication to be placed on packages or other
containers of cigarettes to evidence payment of
cigarette taxes, and which are in the possession of
any person other than [certain exempted persons].
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At the time of the events charged in the within indictment, N. Y. Tax Law

§471(1) provided:

There is hereby imposed and shall be paid tax on
all cigarettes possessed in the state by any person
for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed on
cigarettes sold under such circumstances that this
state is without power to impose such tax .... It
shall be presumed that all cigarettes within the state
are subject to tax until the contrary is established,
and the burden of proof that any cigarettes are not
taxable hereunder, shall be upon the person in
possession thereof.

The Supreme Court has held that the collection of cigarette taxes on

cigarettes sold on Native American reservations to enrolled tribal members for their

personal consumption is forbidden. Moe v. Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes

of Flatbed Reservation, 425 U.S. 463 (1976). However, the taxes may be collected

when the cigarettes are sold on the reservation to non-Native Americans, so long as

the taxing scheme is not "unduly burdensome". Washington v. Confederated Tribes

of Colville Indian Reservation. 447 U.S. 134 (1980); Dep't of Taxation and Fin. Of

New York v. Mihelm Attea & Bros.. Inc.. 512 U.S. 61 (1994).

N.Y. Tax Law § 471, enacted in 1939, was not enforced against Native

American cigarette vendors until 1988 when New York adopted regulations creating

a taxing mechanism for sales to non-tribal members. Those regulations allowed
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reservation vendors to sell untaxed cigarettes to tribal members for their own. use, but

limited the quantity of cigarettes sold to an amount that would fill the probable

demand of the individuals on the reservation. Mihelm Attea & Bros., Inc.. at 65-66.

However, the regulations were repealed in 1998 at which time New York adopted a

policy of forbearance, suspending attempts to collect tax from all cigarette sales on

reservation lands. Cayuga Indian Nation of New York v. Gould. 66 A.D.Sd 100 (4th

Dept. 2009).1

In 2005, New York enacted N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e which set up a tax-

exempt coupon program for cigarette sales on reservation lands. But since New

York's Department of Taxation and Finance failed to issue tax-exempt coupons for

reservation vendors, and failed to make any determination regarding "the probable

demand for or proper distribution of such coupons", a New York appellate court held

that the provision had not taken effect. Day Wholesale. Inc. v. State. 51 A.D.3d383

(4th Dept. 2008). And in Cayuga Indian Nation of New York v. Gould, supra, the

Appellate Division again ruled in its majority opinion that § 471-e was not in effect

and that there was therefore no statutory basis for imposing a cigarette tax on a

qualified reservation.

]On May 11, 2010, the New York Court of Appeals affirmed the Fourth Department's
decision in Cavuga Indian Nation of New York v. Gould. 14N.Y.3d 614 (2010).
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In City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc.. 2009 WL

2612345 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2009), the City of New York sought a preliminary

injunction against the defendants, alleging that they were reservation vendors who

were selling untaxed cigarettes to bootleggers who then resold them in the city which

resulted in the loss of tax revenue. The district court granted the motion for a

preliminary injunction, concluding that "the New York Court of Appeals would rej ect

the majority's reasoning in Cayuga and conclude that § 471 imposes a tax on

reservation sales of cigarettes to non-Tribe members." Id. at 29. The defendants then

appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. In City of

New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop. Inc.. 597 F.3d 115, the Court of Appeals

re viewed New York State5 s "somewhat labored history" relating to the taxing of sales

of cigarettes on Native American reservation lands and noted that both parties had

offered "competing interpretations of §§ 471 and 471-e, each supported by cogent

arguments and prior judicial analysis". Id- at 122, 126. Given the unsettled nature

of the legal questions presented, the Court of Appeals certified the following

questions to the New York State Court of Appeals:

(1) DoesN.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, either by itself or
in combination with the provisions of § 471,
impose a tax on cigarettes sold on Native American
reservations when some or all of those cigarettes
may be sold to persons other than members of the
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reservation's nation or tribe?

(2) If the answer to Question 1 is "no", does N.Y.
Tax Law § 471 alone impose a tax on cigarettes
sold on Native American reservations when some
or all of those cigarettes may be sold to persons
other than members of the reservation's nation or
tribe?

Id. at 127-128.

On August 20, 2010, the Court of Appeals withdrew its certification of

the above-mentioned questions to the New York Court of Appeals and on August 31,

2010, the New York Court of Appeals marked the certification withdrawn.

Presumably, the withdrawal of that certification resulted from actions that had

recently taken by the New York State legislature. Those actions included changes to

the provisions of the New York Tax Law and the Department of Taxation and

Finance's issuance of emergency regulations implementing the new statute. See, 20

N.Y.C.R.R. § 74.6 (2010). The new statutory and legislative scheme, which

contemplates two alternative mechanisms by which Indian nations and their members

may obtain a limited quantity of tax-exempt cigarettes, took effect on September 1,

2010.2

2These amendments were challenged in this Court in Unkechauge Indian Nation v.
Paterson. (Docket No. 10-CV-711A and No. 10-CV-811A). Though this Court issued an order
on November 9, 2010 denying the plaintiff s motion for a preliminary injunction enjoining
implementation of the amendments, it granted a stay pending appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit. To date, the Court of Appeals has not ruled in this case.
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ARGUMENT

THE INDICTMENT SHOULD BE DISMISSED
ON THE GROUND THAT IT WOULD
VIOLATE DUE PROCESS TO PROSECUTE
THE DEFENDANT UNDER A STATUTE
THAT FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY WARN
HIM AS TO WHAT CONDUCT WAS
PROHIBITED.

In this case, the government has charged that the defendant conspired

with others to sell and distribute cigarettes without paying the applicable state

cigarette taxes. But as can be seen from the foregoing discussion, the defendant, a

licensed cigarette wholesaler, could scarcely be held criminally liable for failing to

recognize that he was prohibited from selling unstamped cigarettes on Native

American reservations to non-Native Americans during the time period covered by

the within indictment. Since any conviction on Counts One through Six that might

result from this indictment would be invalid under the Due Process Clause, the

indictment must therefore be dismissed.

The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment requires that "criminal

statutes ... give due notice that an act has been made criminal before it is done.

Jordan v. DeGeorge. 341 U.S. 223, 230 (1951). This principle is based upon the

premise that "Every man should be able to know with certainty when he is

committing a crime". United States v. Reese. 92 U.S. 214.220 (1875). Accordingly,
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"a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that

men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its

application violates the first essential of due process of law." Connally v. General

Construction Co.. 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926).

Consistent with this principle, the Supreme Court has repeatedly

emphasized that "the standard of certainty required in criminal statutes is more

exacting than in noncriminal statutes ... because it would be unthinkable to convict

a man for violating a law he could not understand." Barenblatt v. United States, 360

U.S. 109, 137 (1959). See also. Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside. Hoffman

Estates, Inc.. 455 U.S. 489, 498-99 (1982) (holding that statutes imposing economic

regulations are subj ect to a relaxed vagueness test, while those with criminal penalties

are subject to a stricter one, and those that might infringe constitutional rights are

subject to the strictest of all).

To determine whether a statute has provided the requisite degree of

notice, a two-step test is employed. First, a court must determine whether the statute

"gives the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is

prohibited". Second, a court must consider whether the law "provides explicit

standards for those who apply it." United States v. Nadi. 996 F.2d 548, 550 (2d Cir.

19931 quoting, Grayned v. City of Rockford. 408 U.S. 104. 108(1972). Judged by
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these standards, it is clear that the defendant did not receive sufficient notice to alert

him as to what conduct was prohibited. Kolender v. Lawson. 461 U.S. 352, 357

(1983).

The "labored history" surrounding New York State's taxation of

cigarette sales on Native American lands , which the Court of Appeals noted in City

of New York v.Golden Feather Smoke Shop. Inc.. 597 F.3d at 122, made it difficult,

if not impossible for the defendant to be accorded adequate notice that his distribution

of unstamped cigarettes ran afoul of the New York Tax Law during the time period

charged in the within indictment. Given the State's repeal of its regulations and its

Department of Taxation and Finance's policy of forbearance at the time of repeal, it

was unreasonable to expect the defendant to have known that distributing unstamped

cigarettes on Native American lands to non-Native Americans constituted a violation

of N.Y. Tax Law § 471. Indeed, given the unsettled state of the law that existed

during the time frame encompassed by the indictment, and the unsettled state of the

law that continues to exist to this date, it cannot be concluded that the defendant had

received a "sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed conduct when measured

by common understanding and practices" prior to the transactions in which he

engaged. Jordan v. DeGeorge, 341 U.S. at 231, citing. Connally v. General

Construction Co.. 269 U.S. at 391.
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The conclusion that the defendant was not accorded sufficient notice that

his distribution and sale of unstamped cigarettes was not prohibited is amply

supported by two of the decisions that were discussed previously herein. For

example, in City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop Inc., supra, a civil case,

the Court of Appeals considered whether N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e was in effect, and

whether N.Y. Tax Law § 471 and § 471-e, or both, imposed a tax on cigarettes sold

on Native American reservations when some or all of those cigarettes might be sold

to people who were not tribal members. After conducting a thorough analysis of the

history of New York's legislative and regulatory tax collection frameworks, as well

as its conflicting precedent, the Court of Appeals recognized that the issue remained

unresolved and then took the extraordinary step of certifying the question to the New

York Court of Appeals in the hope that New York's highest court could offer some

clarity. Considering the uncertainty as to the scope and reach of New York's

cigarette tax scheme which the Court of Appeals expressed in Golden Feather, it

surely cannot be concluded that the defendant, or any other person of ordinary

intelligence, should have been required to divine that he was required to pay excise

tax on the cigarettes that he sold on Native American reservations.

Further support for this conclusion may be found in the decision by

United States District Judge Hurley in United States v. Morrison, 656F. Supp.2d338

10
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(E.D.N.Y. 2009). In Morrison, the defendant was convicted after trial of RICO

conspiracy with the goal of the conspiracy to sell cigarettes without valid New York

State tax stamps in accordance with N.Y. Tax Law § 471 and 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a).

After several post-verdict motions to dismiss that count had been denied, the

defendant moved for reconsideration of those rulings based upon the Court of

Appeals' decision in Golden Feather, arguing, inter alia, that the Court's analysis in

that case "negate[d] the central conclusions, and thus the final result, of this Court's

determination that Mr. Morrison's due process rights were not violated because Tax

Law§ 471 gave him 'fair notice' of the illegality of his conduct." In finding that the

Court of Appeals' decision in Golden Feather was "at odds" with his earlier

conclusion that the defendant had received adequate notice of the illegality of his

conduct, Judge Hurley dismissed the RICO conspiracy count and ruled that his earlier

conclusion that "the text of [N.Y. Tax Law] § 471 satisfies constitutional notice

requirements may not stand". The same result is compelled in this case.

To convict the defendant of trafficking in contraband cigarettes, the

government would necessarily have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that prior to

his having engaged in the transactions alleged, he had been sufficiently warned by the

language of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 that his conduct was proscribed. Arriaga v.

Mukasey. 521 F.3d at 224. Otherwise, any conviction that might be obtained would

11
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surely be in violation of the Due Process Clause. Rubin v. Garvin, 544 F.3d at 467.

Given the ambiguity in New York State's tax collection framework which compelled

the Court of Appeals to certify to the New York Court of Appeals unresolved

questions regarding the scope and applicability of N.Y. Tax Law § 471, it cannot be

concluded that the defendant had due notice that his acts were criminal before he

undertook them. Jordan v. DeGeorge. supra.

In sum, since the defendant did not receive fair notice that his sale and

distribution of unstamped cigarettes on Native American lands rendered him

criminally liable, Counts One through Six in the within indictment must be dismissed.
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CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth herein, Counts One, Two, Three, Four,

Five and Six of the within indictment must be dismissed.

Dated: Bayside, New York
January 14,2011

Respectfully submitted,

s/STEVE ZISSOU ESQ.
Attorney for Defendant
Steve Zissou and Associates
42-40 Bell Boulevard, Suite 302
Bayside, NY 11361
(718)279-4500
stevezissoufStverizon.net
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